
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
TENTH SESSION 
Official Records 

CONTENTS 

Agenda items 17 and 66: 

Page 

Regulation, limitation and balanced reduction of all 
armed forces and all armaments; conclusion of an 
international convention (treaty) on the reduction 
of armaments and the prohibition of atomic, hydro­
gen and other weapons of mass destruction: report 
of the Disarmament Commission (continued) ...... 285 

Measures for the further relaxation of international 
tension and development of international co­
operation (continued) ................•........... 285 

Chairman: Sir Leslie MUNRO {New Zealand). 

AGENDA ITEMS 17 AND 66 

Regulation, limitation and balanced reduction of 
all armed forces and all armaments; conclusion 
of an international convention (treaty) on the 
reduction of armaments and the prohibition of 
atomic, hydrogen and other weapons of mass 
destruction: report of the Disarmament Com· 
mission (A/2979, A/3047, A/C.ljL.l49/Rev.l, 
A/C.ljL.l50jRev.l and 2, AjC.l/L.I52 and 
Rev.l, A/C.I/L.I53/Rev.l, A/C.l/L.l54/Rev.l, 
AjC.ljL.l56) (continued) 

Measures for the further relaxation of international 
tension and development of international co­
operation (A/2981 and Add.l, AjC.I/L.I5l) 
(continued) 

1. Mr. LODGE (United States of America), explain­
ing the positions of the sponsors of the joint draft reso­
lution (A/C.1/L.150/Rev.1) on the various amend­
ments, stated that their intention from the very begin­
ning of the debate had been to meet the consensus of 
views expressed in the Committee as far as they could 
possibly do so within the framework of the draft 
resolution. 
2. They were accordingly pleased to be able to accept 
in their entirety or in substance no fewer than five 
Soviet Union and seven Indian suggestions. They also 
welcomed the amendment submitted by Costa Rica, 
Mexico and Pakistan (A/C.1/L.154/Rev.1). The 
United States delegation supported the motion made 
(809th meeting) by the representative of the United 
Kingdom that priority should be given to the joint 
draft resolution under rule 132 of the rules of procedure. 

3. Since the first revision of the joint draft resolution 
had been submitted, the sponsors had had time to study 
the revised amendments (A/C.l/L.153/Rev.l) sub­
mitted by India. Because of their desire to see the 
widest possible measure of agreement on a subject so 
vital to all, they were now prepared to revise their 

FIRST COMMITTEE, 810tb 
MEETING 

Monday, 12 December 1955, 
at 10.30 a.m. 

New York 

text a second time to include as many as possible of those 
new amendments. 
4. The sponsors accepted point ( i) of the second 
Indian amendment. Accordingly, operative paragraph 1, 
sub-paragraph (a), of the joint draft resolution would 
now read: 

"Should continue their endeavours to reach agree­
ment on a comprehensive disarmament plan in 
accordance with the goals set out in resolution 808 
(IX)." 

5. The sponsors were also prepared to accept part of 
point ( ii) of the second Indian amendment, and to in­
sert the words "as initial steps" in sub-paragraph (b) 
of their operative paragraph 1, so that it would now 
read: 

"Should, as initial steps, give priority to early 
agreement on and implementation of." 

6. The sponsors accepted most of point (iii) of the 
second Indian amendment. The new paragraph 1 (b) 
( ii) would therefore read : . 

"All such measures of adequately safeguarded dis-
armament as are now feasible." 

Having inserted the words "as initial steps" above, they 
thought it would be redundant to repeat them, as sug­
gested by the Indian amendment. 
7. The sponsors had also made a careful study of the 
first Indian amendment. They had decided that, if it 
was considered desirable by others, they could actually 
quote the language of resolution 808 (IX), which was 
recalled in the first paragraph of the preamble. It 
seemed unnecessary to them to add a long quotation to 
an already lengthy text, but, in a spirit of accommoda­
tion, here, too, they would accept the first version of 
that amendment as it had appeared in document 
A/C.l/L.153. The first paragraph of the preamble of 
the joint draft resolution would then begin as follows: 

"Recalling its resolution 808 (IX) of 4 November 
1954. which established the conclusion 'that a further 
effort should be made.' .. .'' 

8. Tuming to those amendments submitted by the 
Indian and USSR delegations to which the sponsors 
of the joint draft resolution objected, Mr. Lodge first 
took up the Indian amendments (A/C.l/L.153/Rev.l). 
The revised version of the amendments reaffirmed m 
blanket fashion without discrimination and without 
reference to ch~nging circumstances, all of th~ opera­
tive provisions of General Assembly resolutwn 808 
(IX), including the provision for the eliminati~n of all 
nuclear weapons. Practically every r~presentat!ve wh_o 
had spoken in the debate had recogmzed the tmposst­
bility of totally accounting for nuclear weapons ma­
terials by any scientific means known at the present 
time which made total elimination of those weapons 
scie~tifically impossible at present. In the light of 
those facts, therefore, the sponsors did not see how they 
could proceed now to draw up a disarmament conven-

285 A/C.l/SR.810 



286 General Assembly - Tenth Session - First Committee 

tion, as resolution 808 (IX) recommended, incorporat­
ing a provision which could not be enforced. It was 
inconsistent with pragaraph 1 (c) of that resolution, 
which called for effective control. It was inconsistent 
with the seventh and eighth paragraphs of the preamble 
of the present joint draft resolution, which recognized 
the difficulties of such control. It was inconsistent with 
the debate which had taken place in the First Commit­
tee and with the facts known today. Until success re­
warded the scientific search recommended in paragraph 
3 of the joint draft resolution, and until fully adequate 
inspection and control was agreed upon, nuclear weapons 
could not be totally eliminated. Paragraph 1 (a) of the 
joint draft resolution called for a continued search for 
agreement on a comprehensive disarmament plan in 
accordance with the goals set out in resolution 808 (IX). 
That meant all those goals which could be effectively 
controlled. When the elimination of nuclear weapons 
crmld be effectively controlled, it could be provided for 
in a comprehensive plan, but not before. Also, the 
question was not merely one of making a further effort 
to reach agreement ; it was a matter of technical fact, 
which only new technical developments could alter. 

9. Referring to that part of the second amendment pro­
posed by India which the sponsors of the joint draft 
resolution had not accepted, Mr. Lodge stated that they 
had not incorporated the word "equal" in point (ii) 
of the amendment. Both sections of pragaraph 1 (b) of 
the joint draft resolution were on the same general 
plane of priority, and in that sense they were equal. 
However, the sponsors did not believe that agreement 
on the carrying out of one should of necessity await 
agreement on and the carrying out of the other. The 
sponsors hoped that both could be carried out together, 
but they did not want that to be a requirement. 

10. The sponsors of the joint draft resolution had not 
been able to accept the third Indian amendment, which 
dealt with the enlargement of the Disarmament Com­
mission and its Sub-Committee. The United States be­
lieved that the problem of enlarging the Commission 
must be considered when the size and composition of 
other major organs was reviewed in the light of any 
decision reached on the admission of new Members. 
Such a review would be necessary and would have to 
be undertaken as soon as possible, but it would be a 
mistake to attempt now to alter the composition of that 
important Commission in the absence of new Members 
which, once admitted to the United Nations, should 
have a voice in such a decision. 

11. With regard to the fifth Indian amendment, the 
United States believed that agreement on disarmament 
should eventually be embodied in such a ~onven~ion, b?t 
while lack of agreement on so many vttal pomts stdl 
existed, it was exceedingly difficult to draft any kind 
of legal instrument which would be reasonably complete 
or which would make any sense at all. Mr. Menon's 
suggestion was no doubt put forward with the laudable 
purpose of applying a little more pressure in order to 
achieve tangible results. However, it could have results 
opposite to what he intended. The time spent in trying 
to draw up a convention would be better spent in com­
ing to grips with the issues. 
12. The sponsors had not been able to incorporate 
in their joint draft resolution some of the amendme?ts 
submitted by the USSR (A/C.l/L.152). The wordmg 
of the first paragraph of the Third Soviet amendment 
conveyed a misleading idea of the extent of the agr~e­
ment reached in the Sub-Committee and in the Dts-

armament Commission. The text of the joint draft 
resolution acknowledged that there had been some pro­
gress towards agreement, which gave an accurate pic­
ture of what had in truth taken place. 
13. The second paragraph of the Third Soviet am.e~d­
ment overstated, in the view of the sponsors of the JOmt 
draft resolution, the extent of agreement on levels of 
armed forces, prohibition and timing. The sponsors were 
against proposing total and immediate prohibition until 
they could be assured that such prohibition would be 
effective. With reference to the levels of armed forces, 
the United States believed the ultimate figure must be 
established in the light of what could be done about 
nuclear weapons and effective inspection and control. 
There had not been substantial agreement on the order 
to be followed in a comprehensive disarmament pro­
gramme. The Soviet Union would not say when con­
trol could be installed; moreover, it wanted to pass 
from one stage of disarmament to another automat!cally 
rather than in accordance with the findings and JUdg­
ment of the international control authority. Further­
more, it called for the total prohibition and elin:ination 
of atomic weapons to take place somewhere 1~ .t~at 
sequence, even though it knew that total prohtbttlon 
was impossible to check. Above all, there was a v~st 
difference of opinion on what constituted effectlve 
control. 
14. The sixth Soviet Union amendment would com­
pletely transform the sense of the joint draft resolution. 
It gave the Soviet proposals of 10 May and 21 July 1955 
(A/2979, annexes I and II) 1 first priority. The form~r 
brought in a host of political issues which were not m 
the competence of the Disarmament Commission, such 
as the settlement of Far Eastern questions, the disma?t­
ling of all bases abroad, and the removal of foretgn 
troops from Germany. It cut the heart out of the for­
ward-looking approach adopted in the joint draft reso­
lution, namely, to do all that could be don.e no'Y, even 
while work continued toward comprehenstve dtsarm~­
ment in accordance with the ultimate goals expressed tn 
resolution 808 (IX), and while efforts went ~n to 
tackle the scientific barriers and the barriers of mter­
national distrust which block solution of the problem 
of comprehensive disarmament. 
15. A second revision of the joint draft resolution in­
corporating those amendments which had bee~ accepted 
would be circulated shortly. The sponsors beheved that 
the revised text pointed out the most promising path of 
progress for the Disarmament Commission and the S~b­
Committee. It faced squarely the fact that new techmcal 
difficulties had arisen in regard to the control of nu~lear 
weapons material, and it recogni~ed that internatlonal 
suspicions must be cleared away tf progress was to be 
made toward comprehensive disarmament. 
16. Knowing the world's great yearning for at least 
a start a first instalment on disarmament, the sponsors 
had in~luded a directive to the Governments concerned 
to take every action which was now fe~sible.. That was 
a significant step. The draft resoluhon dtrected the 
States concerned to make such initial reductions as 
could be adequately controlled, at the earliest oppor­
tunity, without waiting for agreement on a co~prehen­
sive plan, although work for such a plan contmued. 
17. The joint draft resolution also requested the 0ov­
ernments concerned to start now to carry out the Etsen­
hower and Bulganin plans. The United States wanted 
both the Eisenhower plan and a beginning on disarma-

t See also DC/71, annexes 15 and 18. 



810th meeting-12 December 1955 287 

ment, together if possible, to go into effect as soon as 
possible. It did not, however, believe that the Eisen­
hower plan should be postponed while efforts were made 
to get agreement on even the initial measures of 
disarmament which were currently feasible and 
controllable. 

18. The sponsors hoped that, with the adoption of their 
joint draft resolution, which represented an attempt in 
good faith to meet the desires that had been expressed 
by representatives of all countries in the Committee, 
deliberation on disarmament would finally lead to that 
immediate action for which the world had waited so 
anxiously for so many years. 

19. The CHAIRMAN announced that, to facilitate 
the work of the Committee, he would read the text of 
a Syrian amendmenf2 to the revised Indian amendments 
(A/C.l/L.l53/Rev.l) which would shortly be circu­
lated. It read as follows: 

"For paragraph 3, substitute the following: 
'3. Insert the following as paragraph 4: 
'4. Decides to reconstitute and enlarge the Dis­

armament Commission by adding to its membership 
for the year 1956 the representatives of seven coun­
tries, namely, Argentina, Egypt, India, Philippines, 
Poland, Sweden and Yugoslavia, and requests the 
Disarmament Commission to expand its Sub-Com­
mittee as appropriate'." 

20. Mr. DE LA COLINA (Mexico) noted with 
regret that no great progress had been achieved in the 
work of the Sub-Committee of the Disarmament Com­
mission. In spite of that fact, however, its efforts had 
not been entirely wasted. The Sub-Committee and the 
Disarmament Commission should therefore continue 
their work with the encouragement of the General 
Assembly. 

21. The Mexican delegation would support the joint 
draft resolution and trusted that the amendments now 
introduced in the original text would enable it to be 
adopted unanimously. 

22. Referring to the amendment submitted by the 
delegations of Costa Rica and Pakistan, and later co­
sponsored by his own delegation (A/C.l/L.l54/Rev.l), 
Mr. de Ia Colina expressed the hope that some, even if 
only a small part, of the funds now being spent on arma­
ments would soon be utilized for improving the standard 
of living in the under-developed countries. The delega­
tion of Mexico was happy to note that the sponsors of 
the joint draft resolution had accepted the amendment. 
23. Mr. SHAH! (Pakistan) pointed out that there 
was a link between the question of allocating savings 
from disarmament and the question of disarmament. 
The General Assembly had, in a number of resolutions, 
borne witness to the fact that, particularly in the present 
state of world tension, the advancement of the under­
developed countries could contribute towards the 
achievement of international peace and security. In that 
connexion, he cited General Assembly resolution 724B 
(VIII) . 
24. In thanking the sponsors of the joint draft reso­
lution for having accepted the amendment submitted 
by the delegations of Costa Rica, Mexico and Pakistan, 
Mr. Shahi stated that that was one more proof of the 
deep and continuing concern which those countries had 
shown in the development of under-developed countries. 

2 Subsequently issued as document A/C.1/L.156. 

25. Mr. NOSEK (Czechoslovakia) stated that the 
essential criterion, in the opinion of his delegation, must 
be to what extent the draft resolutions before the Com­
mittee were capable of assisting in the achievement of 
the main task, which was the early drafting and conclu­
sion of an international disarmament convention. The 
four-Power draft resolution (A/C.l/L.lSO/Rev.l) did 
not bring the common objective any closer, but on the 
contrary, sought to carry the issue into another and 
entirely different sphere. The course of the discussion 
had shown that the Western Powers were in fact aban­
doning the idea of drafting a comprehensive disarma­
ment programme. The draft resolution's primary ob­
jective was, first and foremost, support of President 
Eisenhower's plan for the exchange of military infor­
mation and for aerial inspection. 

26. Another characteristic feature of the four-Power 
draft resolution was its disregard of one of the essen­
tial elements and objectives of the disarmament pro­
gramme, the prohibition of weapons of mass destruc­
tion. The Czechoslovak delegation was fully in agree­
ment with the amendments moved by the delegation of 
the USSR (A/C.l/L.l52) and by the delegation of 
India (A/ C.l / L.l53/Rev.l). Those amendments di­
rected the four-Power draft resolution back to the 
sphere of disarmament and thereby placed it within its 
proper context. 

27. In the opinion of the Czechoslovak delegation, the 
resolution which would ultimately be adopted on the 
question of disarmament should not give undue emphasis 
to, or exaggerate, the existing points of disagreemer;t, 
but on the contrary, should accent the progress made m 
the course of the preceding year in the negotiations on 
disarmament. A declaration recording agreement on 
those issues could not but strengthen the spirit of co­
operation and mutual understanding, and would create 
favourable conditions for further negotiations on the 
drafting of a comprehensive . disarmament prog~a~m~. 
The future work of the Dtsarmament Commtsswn s 
Sub-Committee should, in the opinion of the Czecho­
slovak delegation, primarily focus on the considerati?n 
of all the proposals submitted on the problem of dts­
armament. The amendments submitted by the USSR 
were designed to achieve that objective and the Czecho­
slovak delegation would accordingly vote in favour of 
those amendments. It would likewise vote in favour of 
the Indian draft resolution (A/C.l / L.149/Rev.l), 
which requested States to initiate negotiations to effect 
suspension of experimental explosions of nucl~ar and 
thermo-nuclear weapons and requested t~e Dtsarma­
ment Commission to submit proposals wtthout delay 
for the establishment of an armaments truce. The 
Czechoslovak delegation concurred with the vie:v ex­
pressed at the 804th meeting by the repres~ntattve _of 
France that progress on the complex question of dts­
armament required unani~i~y. He truste~ that the 
Western Powers, in a spmt of co-operatiOn, would 
adopt the amendments submitted by the USSR. 

28. Turning to the item proposed by th~ USS~ on 
measures for the further relaxation of mternatwnal 
tension and the development of international co-opera­
tion Mr. Nosek stated that the General Assembly would 
be f~iling in its duties if it did not express its satisfac­
tion at the efforts undertaken by States towards that 
goal and if it did not call upon all States to continue 
such efforts. The draft resolution submitted hy the 
USSR (A/C.l/L.lSl) adequately dealt with that most 



288 General Assembly - Tenth Session - First Committee 

important issue. The Czechoslovak delegation would ac­
cordingly vote in favour of that draft resolution. 
29. Mr. ALPHAND (France) stated that the French 
delegation, faithful to the conciliatory role which the 
French Government had endeavoured to play in inter­
national affairs and to the initiative which it had taken 
especially with regard to the discussion of the disarma­
ment problem, had associated itself with the revised 
joint draft resolution, which was designed to meet some 
of the points raised in the various amendments. In a 
spirit of understanding, it had agreed to mention in the 
second paragraph of the preamble the principal con­
ferences which had met during the preceding year. That 
included the Asian-African Conference at Bandung, 
a passage of whose final communique called for grave 
reservations on the part of the French Government, 
since it went counter to the understanding of peoples. 
He wished to make it clear that the reference in the joint 
draft resolution related to the other parts of the Bandung 
Conference communique, especially the part dealing with 
disarmament. In particular, he would like to tell the 
representative of India that the explanations he had 
offered, concerning the absence of any alliance on the 
part of States which had taken part in the Bandung 
Conference and the perfect harmony of their general 
views with the Articles of the Charter concerning the 
individual and collective security of States, prompted 
the French delegation to go as far it possibly could 
along the lines of the amendments which had been 
presented. 
30. Mr. Alphand was very happy to find in one of the 
amendments, that of Costa Rica, Mexico and Pakistan 
(A/C.l/L.l54/Rev.l), the echo of the plan presented 
by the Prime Minister of France at the Conference of 
the Heads of Government of the four great Powers. That 
plan had already been mentioned in the original joint 
draft resolution. By incorporating the three-Power 
amendment, the revised version brought out more fully 
and with greater weight the initiative of Mr. Edgar 
Faure. 
31. Mr. KUZNETSOV (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) supported the Syrian amendment (A/C.l/ 
L.156) calling for the expansion of the membership of 
the Sub-Committee. An enlarged membership would 
ensure a more representative character for the Sub­
Committee and would undoubtedly contribute to more 
fruitful work by it. 
32. He suggested that, since a number of new amend­
ments to the four-Power draft resolution had been sub­
mitted and were being submitted and since a second 
revision of that draft resolution was about to be cir­
culated, a short recess should be called to enable delega­
tions to study the new document in its final form. 
33. The CHAIRMAN stated that he would. of course, 
bear in mind what the representative of the USSR 
had to say on the point. 
34. Mr. NU~EZ (Costa Rica) stated that Costa Rica 
had been very happy to hear the proposal, made in 
Geneva by the Government of France, t~~t the fu?ds 
resulting from disarmament should be utilized for Im­
proving standards of living throughout t~e world and, 
in particular, in th~ less deye~oped cou?tnes. The ~ele­
gation of Costa R1ca had JOmed Mex1~0 and Pak1st~n 
in suggesting the insertion of an operatlVe paragraph m 
the four-Power draft resolution, in order that the French 
proposal would, in the future studies by ~he Disarma­
ment Commission, be considered as an mtegral part 
of the disarmament plan. 

35. He expressed his appreciation to the sponsors of 
the joint draft resolution for having accepted the three­
Power amendment (A/C.l/L.l54/Rev.l). 
36. Mr. NUTTING (United Kingdom) appealed to 
the delegations of Syria and India not to press their 
amendments regarding the enlargement of the Disarma­
ment Commission. He himself was not excluding all 
possibilities of enlarging the Disarmament Commission 
in the future. Indeed, if new Members were added to 
the United Nations, presumably the Security Council 
would be enlarged and the Disarmament Commission 
would automaticaiiy also be enlarged. At the present 
moment, however, the Committee should concentrate 
on giving the Disarmament Commission more to do. 
37. No reason had been given in the debate to show 
that some arbitrary expansion, whether by seven or by 
four, or by any particular number of countries, would 
improve the efficiency of the Commission in discharg­
ing its duties. Under the present system, apart from 
the permanent members of the Security Council and 
Canada, each country serving on the Commission had 
two years' experience, both in Security Council work 
and in work connected with disarmament. That two 
years' experience enabled them to make a full contr!bu­
tion on that very complex topic. Merely to add a g1ven 
number of countries to serve in 1956, as proposed by 
the delegation of India, would not give the same ex­
perience, particularly because the meetings of t~e Sub­
Committee inevitably occupied much time durmg the 
year. 
38. In any case, it was preferable to wait and . see 
whether the new Members were admitted to the Umted 
Nations. If they were not, the situation could ~e re­
viewed later to determine whether it would be adv1sable 
to expand the Disarmament Commission to include 
more Members or possibly even non-Members of t~e 
United Nations, for example, some of the present ap~lt­
cants. If the new Members did get in, then the Secunty 
Council would almost certainly be enlarged consequen­
tiaiiy, and the Disarmament Commission would then be 
composed of fourteen or fifteen countries, which seeme.d 
to him to be about the right size and certainly the maxi­
mum for efficient working. 
39. In addition, under rule 28 of the Disarmament 
Commission's rules of procedure any Member of the 
United Nations which was not a member of the Com­
mission or anv State not a Member of the United 
Nations "may 'be invited as the result of a decis~on of 
the Disarmament Commission, to participate, w1thout 
vote, in the discussion of any question brought before 
the Disarmament Commission when the Disarmament 
Commission considers that the interests of that State 
are specially affected." He had no doubt that the Dis­
armament Commission, if it would perform more work 
in the future and if the Sub-Committee would report 
to it more r~gularly and more frequently, would not 
only make more use of itself, but would also make full 
and proper use of rule 28, which would enable other 
Members of the United Nations and non-Members to 
appear before it and to make their contribution. 
40. For those reasons he would not accept at the 
present stage the amendment submitted by the .delega­
tion of Syria, and he would ask both the Synan and 
Indian representatives not to press their amendments. 
41. Mr. MENON (India), before taking. up the 
various draft resolutions and amendments, w1shed to 
make a preliminary observation that the disa~mament 
item in the future should be discussed at an earher stage 



SlOth meeting-12 December 1955 289 

in the proceedings of the General Assembly, so that, 
after the opening discussion, the debate could be ad­
journed in order to allow delegations to obtain instruc­
tions from their Governments and to carry on private 
talks. 
42. The Indian amendments were based on the convic­
tion that disarmament was a preliminary step towards 
the renunciation of war. Therefore, any attempt to 
think of the problem of disarmament in terms of the 
difficulties confronting those who wished to achieve it, 
so that no comprehensive disarmament was immediately 
possible, was not acceptable. India could not subscribe 
to the doctrine of a peace based on hydrogen bombs. 
The only way to deal with atomic destructive power was 
to eliminate it. Weapons of mass destruction should 
not be used by any nation for any purpose whatsoever. 
To say that they would not be used except in case of 
aggression was a travesty. All wars that had been waged 
were proclaimed not as aggressions but as defence of 
peoples or principles. 

43. The pattern of past draft resolutions on the ques­
tion of disarmament, as initially submitted, had been 
to keep the Sub-Committee in being without doing 
much. Subsequently, amendments had come in from 
various sides of different persuasions, and the sponsors 
had accepted them. The main impetus for the work 
on disarmament came during the discussions in the 
Assembly from States who were not members of the 
Disarmament Commission or its Sub-Committee. 
Greater participation by those other Member States, 
who made their main contribution to the work of the 
Disarmament Commission only during the few weeks' 
debate in the General Assembly, should make possible 
greater accomplishment. For that reason, the delegation 
of India wished to state its position and submit its sug­
gestions so that, through the general interplay of ideas, 
the General Assembly could reach its ultimate decision. 
Although disarmament could not be brought about 
without the agreement of the great Powers-and, if 
facts were to be faced, without the agreement of the 
United States and the Soviet Union-it was also a 
matter of concern to other States. The Government 
of India would never accept the view that, however 
powerful some Governments might be, they could sit 
down and decide on the arms of other States. Notice 
should therefore be taken of the views of all countries. 
The Sub-Committee of the Disarmament Commission 
had never been intended to be a body either plenary or 
plenipotentiary. Now the Sub-Committee seemed to 
have got into the saddle of the Disarmament Commis­
sion itself. 
44. The situation reached in the disarmament debates 
indicated a recession on the fundamental position, al­
though the urgency of the question was greater than 
ever. The debates also displayed an objection to the 
disarmament question being referred to Member Gov­
ernments for their fuller study. 
45. Referring to the first paragraph of the preamble 
of the revised four-Power draft resolution ( A/C.l/ 
L.150/Rev.2). Mr. Menon expressed his appreciation of 
the attempt and the achievement of the sponsors to 
meet the Indian amendment thereto as far as they could. 
Although in the revised text (A/C.l/L.153/Rev.l) 
that amendment suggested the words "recalling and 
reaffirming its first operative paragraph," he did not 
wish to press for the insertion of the word "reaffirming." 
That word had not been contained in the original text 
(A/ C.l/L.l53). The sponsors of the four-Power draft 

resolution had pointed out that operative paragraph 1 
of their draft resolution included such a reaffirmation, 
although not in the categorical terms set out in the Indian 
amendment. The objection to the word "reaffirming" 
was not valid and had the effect of creating suspicion 
in the minds of people. The argument of the represen­
tative of the United States that reaffirmation was not 
possible in view of the difficulties that had arisen about 
the detection of nuclear weapons material was totally 
untenable. If there were more difficulties, there should 
be more endeavours. Nevertheless, the Indian del ega­
tion was prepared to accept the revision of the draft 
resolution as submitted, in the belief that the assertion 
contained in operative paragraph 1 (a) was reaffirma­
tion and in the light of the explanation given. 

46. He wished to express appreciation to the sponsors 
of the joint draft resolution for having accepted point (i) 
of the second Indian amendment. 
47. With regard to point ( ii) of the second amend­
ment, he hoped that it would be possible to insert the 
word "equal" and thus to accept the equality of priori­
ties, or, at any rate, to make some statement that would 
enable the Indian delegation to support paragraph 1 
of the joint draft resolution. 
48. In view of the explanation given by the represen­
tative of the United States that the words "initial steps" 
in sub-paragraph (b) ( i) of operative paragraph 1 
covered sub-paragraph (b) ( ii), he did not wish to 
insist upon point (iii) of his second amendment. 

49. Turning to the appeal made by the representative 
of the United Kingdom with regard to the reconstitu­
tion of the Disarmament Commission, Mr. Menon stated 
that the business of the United Nations need not be 
held up on account of the admission of new Members. 
If the new Members came in, they would have a contri­
bution to make. The amendment was submitted in the 
light of existing circumstances and, when a new cir­
cumstance arose, it would be possible further to enlarge 
or change the composition of a body. 

SO. Rule 28 of the Commission's rules of procedure, 
cited by the representative of the United Kingdom, had 
been inoperative. The Government of India had sub­
mitted proposals, had written to the Secretary-General 
about them and had never been invited to the Dis­
armament Commission. Rule 28 was therefore not a 
safeguard, but a dead letter. If the sponsors of the 
joint draft resolution were to say that rule 28 would 
henceforth be invoked, that would be a different matter. 

51. Mr. Menon said that there were two reasons why 
the Disarmament Commission should be reconstituted. 
First, there were various Member States which might 
make contributions and assist in resolving the dead­
locks. Secondly, it would be a reminder to the Sub­
Committee that it derived its authority from General 
Assembly resolution 715 (VIII) which suggested that 
the Disarmament Commission set it up. It should be 
recalled that at the eighth session the Indian delegation 
had originally proposed (A/C.l/L.74) that the General 
Assembly should appoint the Sub-Committee, and it was 
at the suggestion of the United Kingdom delegation that 
a change had been made so that the General Assembly 
would request the Commission to set up the Sub­
Committee. 
52. India was concerned about the future of atomic 
weapons. There was no great distinction bet\veen being 
killed by atomic weapons and conventional ,~·eapons, 
but in previous wars humanity had not acqtured the 



290 General Assembly - Tenth Session - First Committee 

capacity of self~extinction. The network of military 
pacts h~d a beanng upon the problem, for in any mili­
tary alhance the weapons available to one member were 
no less available to the other partners. Since the exist­
ing military alliances had at their centers the three great 
"hydrogen Powers," the danger of the atomic weapon 
~ad increased ~ great deal since those weapons were 
m effect, accessible to many more States. The ominous 
implicatiot; of the so-called defensive pacts was that at 
least atomic weapons, though not necessarily the hydro­
gen bomb, would be spread about over the whole world. 

53. It had been proposed that the membership of the 
Disarmament Commission be enlarged for 1956 because 
as in the case of the Security Council, its membership 
changed each year. It was not possible to arrive at 
agreements about proportions and numbers without 
taking into consideration other factors such as the in­
cre~se of_ forces in quan_tity and quality. Accordingly, 
India beheved that the Disarmament Commission should 
be enlarged so that additional positions could be repre­
~ented a~d ~o that the_ usual considerations kept in mind 
m estabhshmg committees could be met. With regard 
to the Syria~ amendment, Mr .. Menon would be pre­
pared to consider a proposal which set forth the idea in 
principle, leaving the implementation to a later stage. 
In any event, the Disarmament Commission should meet 
more regularly and have the co-operation of States 
~hich had concern in the matter. It was the diversity 
m the General Assembly which made its disarmament 
debates more real, more urgent, and less obstructed by 
fixed positions. 
?4. India intended, as a matter of principle, to press 
tts fifth amendment, which would add a new paragraph 
6 to the draft. In General Assembly resolution 502 (VI) 
of 19 November 1951 establishing the Disarmament 
Commission, the Com~issi_on was directed to prepare 
proposals to be embodted m a draft treaty or treaties 
and. a nu.mber o~ objectiv~s were listed. The passage 
of hme d1d not kdl resolutions which had been adopted 
unless t~ey. were specifically rescinded, but some of 
those obJectives were being departed from to a certain 
extent. The General Assembly had started off with 
the idea of preparing a convention, but year after year 
the matter had been forgotten. 
55. Moreover, the preparation of a convention was one 
way of assisting in breaking the deadlock. A draft con­
v_e';tion would place before Governments specific propo­
Sitions. I£ there was no agreement on some points 
two or more alternatives could be presented. Th~ 
present procedure of proposing something new the 
moment an agreement seemed to be approaching could 
not lead towards a settlement. The Government of 
India desired work to begin on drafting a convention 
because it would keep the attention of Member State~ 
focused on the matter and enable them to make contri­
butions. There would be something concrete, rather 
than slogans, to discuss. It would enable Parliaments 
to be informed of the current situation. The circula­
tion of a draft convention during the course of the year 
was of vital importance. 
56. The Indian delegation had presented its amend­
ments and its views because of the belief that the urgency 
of the problem was not adequately realized. Man had 
acquired the capacity to destroy the entire species, and 
the approach of the General Assembly to the problem 
was not in keeping with those circumstances, although 
the representatives of Canada (805th meeting) and 
France, (804th meeting) had referred to their great 

sense of urgency. The peoples of the world were en­
titled_ to be kept informed of the consequences of an 
atomiC war. Recently a United States scientist Colonel 
Victor Burns, had described how an atomic ~plosion 
could explode the retina of the human eye at a distance 
of forty miles. A member of the United States Atomic 
Energy Commission had discussed the hazards of the 
radio-active strontium released by any nuclear ex­
plosion. Prior to the atomic age, he had said, there 
had been no radio-active strontium, and in the event of 
~n ex_Plo~io_n s?me it is shot up into the stratosphere, 
m wh1ch 1t ts diffused and slowly descends over a period 
of years. The radio-active strontium would pass from 
the earth's soil into food and so into the human body 
where it would be absorbed into the bone structure and 
could cause bone tumours. Because there was a limit to 
the tolerable amount of radio-active strontium which 
could be absorbed, there was a limit to the number of 
large thermo-nuclear explosions that the human race 
could withstand without harmful bodily effects. Another 
statement had recently been made by a British scientist, 
which also referred to the capacity of those bombs to 
destroy the whole of humanity. In the circumstances, 
the General Assembly could not depend only on the 
labours of the Sub-Committee nor be satisfied if the 
great Powers were nearer to an agreement on peace 
by horror. All Governments and Parliaments had to be 
assured that the problem of disarmament was being 
actively considered, and for that reason India asked 
for the early circulation of a draft convention. 

57. There was nothing new in the idea, which had 
been established by resolution 502 (VI). It was not, as 
the United Kingdom representative had said, to put 
the cart before the horse. Drafting the convention was 
one of the methods of reaching an agreement which 
had been adopted in other contexts and might well be 
followed in the present question. One way of getting 
out of the morass was to enable the public opinion of 
the world to make its impact. If it were proposed that 
the amendment should be changed so that the idea of 
drafting the convention should be taken into immediate 
consideration, India might be willing to consider such 
a proposal. However, India could not agree to deleting 
the whole idea. 
58. The Indian draft resolution (A/C.l/L.l49/Rev.l) 
contained three elements. One related to the suspension 
of explosions and another to a suggested armaments 
truce. Those ideas had been incorporated in the revised 
four-Power draft resolution, which said that account 
should be taken of them. The question of suspension of 
explosions had been before the General Assembly for 
two years, and it was now asked that negotiations should 
take place between the "atomic Powers" with a view to 
reaching agreement. The four-Power draft resolution 
represented an advance in that it would make some be­
ginning towards considering the problem. However, 
in effect, it would not take the matter any further than 
it had been taken in the previous year, when the Assem­
bly had unanimously referred an Indian draft resolution 
on the subject to the Disarmament Commission (reso­
lution 808 B (IX). The advance in substance which 
India desired was immediate talks between the United 
States, the United Kingdom and the Soviet Union with 
a view to suspending those explosions. India hoped 
that the adoption of the draft resolution would mean 
the beginning of those negotiations. 

59. The other element in the Indian draft resolution 
was that the tenth session should stand recessed so 



810th meeting-12 December 1955 291 

that the President could reconvene it for consideration 
of the disarmament problem. India believed that, be­
cause of the urgent need for progress, the Assembly 
should always be available for consultation and for 
speeding up the process. The proposal did not prejudge 
the question of the final decision concerning reconven­
ing the Assembly. Nothing would be lost if the Presi­
dent were empowered to reconvene it as had been done 
in the case of other grave problems. 
60. Mr. Menon stated in conclusion that the first, 
second and third Indian amendments had been with­
drawn, with the request that the sponsors might be 
able to include in the revised draft resolution the words 
"equal priorities." 
61. Mr. MARTIN (Canada) said that in the main he 
was in accord with the statements of the representatives 
of France, the United Kingdom and the United States. 
He wished to repeat, however, that he assumed that all 
agreed that disarmament was a problem of the greatest 
urgency. The revised joint draft resolution would not 
create false hopes, and yet it provided for recognition of 
the broad objectives. 
62. A considerable number of amendments submitted 
by India and the Soviet Union had been accepted, and 
the suggestions made by Costa Rica, Mexico and Pakis­
tan had found their place in the text. Some of the 
Indian amendments, however, had not been accepted, 
and Mr. Martin believed their rejection had been wise. 
They had a value in themselves apart from the draft 
resolution, but would not really be helpful. In particular, 
he referred to the proposal to increase the size of the 
Disarmament Commission. Mr. Martin agreed that 
the Disarmament Commission should have a more 
active role, but the circumstances in which the Sub­
Committee had come into being should be recalled. The 
Commission had been considered too unwieldly for de­
tailed negotiations. On the basis of his own experience 
in attending meetings of the Sub-Committee, Mr. 
Martin could not agree with the suggestion that it should 
be expanded. Among other things, such a move might 
convey a false sense of the measure of progress which 
was to be anticipated. 
63. There was a great deal of value in public discus­
sion, and there could be no doubt that all Members of 
the General Assembly shared the same sense of urgency. 
However, the fact was that no progress in disarmament 
would be made unless agreement was reached between 
the great Powers, on whom the primary responsibility 
rested. If the question could not be resolved by those 
four, it would confront the world indefinitely. There 
had been some dissatisfaction with the Sub-Committee, 
but there was an important provision in the draft reso­
lution requesting the Sub-Committee to give early and 
careful consideration to the views expressed in the First 
Committee. Therefore, the Sub-Committee should be 
given the earliest opportunity to resume negotiations, 
without which there could be no progress. Moreover, 
results were more likely to emerge if the discussion was 
private. The Disarmament Commission could be given 
the responsibility of engaging in public discussion. 
64. On the question of enlarging the Disarmament 
Commission, Mr. Martin believed that there was point 
to the observation that it was one of the United Nations 
bodies to which the principle of enlargement would be 
extended when the matter of new Members was dealt 
with. 
65. Mr. Martin hoped that it would be possible for 
the Sub-Committee to resume its work in a more orderly 

manner, that there would be a carefully prepared general 
debate, that long statements would not be found neces­
sary, that there could be questions and discussions in­
stead of formal statements, that the Members would 
take advantage of the intimate arrangement, that greater 
use would be made of the scientific skills available, and 
that there would be more delegation of functions to 
technical bodies. 
66. Mr. Martin urged the Committee to accept the 
four-Power joint draft resolution, which in its second 
revised form represented the maximum amount of 
opinion that was practical. He hoped that the repre~ 
sentative of India would not press his amendment for 
the enlargement of the Commission, and that, while the 
important role of the Commission was recognized, the 
value of meetings of the Sub-Committee along the lines 
he had suggested would also be recognized. 
67. The CHAIRMAN stated that he intended to pro­
ceed to the vote during the following meeting and to 
conclude the question. He further stated, with respect 
to the question of West Irian, that he had every reason 
to believe that agreement had been reached on the 
matter and that that item also could be dealt with during 
the afternoon meeting. 

Mr. Abdoh (IRAN), Vice-Chairman, took the Chair. 
68. Mr. NASZKOWSKI (Poland) said his delega­
tion considered that the four-Power draft resolution did 
not meet the requirements set out in resolution 808 
(IX), which called for the conclusion of a convention 
on the reduction of armaments, the prohibition of atomic 
weapons, and the institution of effective con!rol. .~he 
draft resolution was focused on control, while fmlmg 
to specify the object of such control. Essentially it was 
a return to control without disarmament. The repre­
sentative of the United States had tried to give assur­
ances that the plan for aerial photography was to be 
part of, or a gateway to, a comprehensive disarmament 
programme. Those were mere words, however, and one 
of the main gaps in the draft was the omission of ~he 
problem of the elimination of nuclear weapons, which 
in the operative part ceased to be an integral 1;art. of 
the disarmament programme. Far from contnbutmg 
to progress towards disarmament, .the four-Pow.er draft 
resolution would direct the work m a wrong d1rectwn. 
69. The revised version did not alter the essence of 
the proposal. It retained priority for studies <;m inspec­
tion without any recommendation for workmg ou~ a 
convention on reduction and prohibition. T~e ~oh.sh 
delegation, therefore, opposed the draft resolutiOn m Its 
present form. . . 
70. The Soviet Union amendments took as their basis 
the directives contained in resolution 808 (IX) and 
took account of recent developments. They. appealed 
for a continuation of efforts towards a solutiOn of the 
whole disarmament problem, rather than just a fr~g­
ment of it. It was particularly necessar;: to modify 
operative paragraph 1 of the draft res.olutwn. It was 
not acceptable to give priority exclusively to control 
and inspection and to touch o?ly .vaguely the p~o?l~m 
of reductions and to pass over m s1len~e the prohibition 
of atomic weapons. The Sub-Con;m1ttee. should base 
its future deliberations on the Soviet Umon pr_oposals 
of 10 May 1955 which incorporated the whole disarma­
ment plan as w~ll as on other proposals submitted. Such 
would be the effect of the Soviet Union amendment. 
71. The Indian amendments would bind future work 
on disarmament more closely to the principles of reso­
lution 808 (IX). In particular, Poland supported the 



292 General Assembly - Tenth Session - First Committee 

idea of making the membership of the Disarmament 
Commission more representative. It would also be 
desirable to recommend that the Commission undertake 
without delay the drafting of a disarmament convention. 
72. The Polish delegation supported the Indian draft 
resolution and especially the request for negotiations 
to suspend experimental explosions. The adoption of 
that draft would constitute a step towards the prohibition 
of weapons of mass destruction. 

Printed in U.S.A. 

73. Finally, the Polish delegation supported the Soviet 
Union draft resolution (A/C.l/L.lSl), which re­
sponded to the aspirations of the peoples who wanted to 
live in peace and tranquillity. It appealed for further 
efforts towards the relaxation of tension and the building 
of confidence. The General Assembly could not refuse 
to endorse those noble objectives. 

The meeting rose at 12.45 p.m. 

S 77101 February 1956-1,950 


